

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



A and a to a set



The Research Council of Norwa



CONTENTS

- 4 INTRODUCTION FROM THE CENTRE DIRECTORS
- 6 HIGHLIGHTS 2020
- 8 OUR RESEARCH
- 10 THEME I: MATERNAL AND PATERNAL AGE
- 11 THEME 2: FERTILITY PROBLEMS
- 12 THEME 3: FERTILITY AND FAMILY STRUCTURE
- 13 THEME 4: STATISTICAL METHODS
- 14 THEME 5: INTERGENERATIONAL TRANSMISSION OF HEALTH
- 22 NEW TEAM MEMBERS 2020
- 26 PEOPLE
- 28 SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE
- 29 ORGANISATION
- 30 INDICATORS 2017-2020
- 31 PUBLICATIONS 2020
- 36 SEMINARS 2020

Cover photo: A family photo by Robert Lyle Design: Fredrik Swift Photos by Monica Kvaale or Fredrik Swift unless otherwise noted.

INTRODUCTION FROM THE CENTRE DIRECTORS

PER MAGNUS CENTRE DIRECTOR

SIRI E. HÅBERG CENTRE DEPUTY DIRECTOR



2020 has shown us how fast the world can change. Yet, despite unforeseen challenges, CEFH has continued to grow with new team members and research projects. The ongoing pandemic has also provided new research opportunities for our centre.

A year of pandemic

Covid-19 has impacted the lives of us all, including members of the Centre for Fertility and Health. Most centre employees have been working from home for the major part of 2020. This is challenging for a research environment which thrives on lively informal discussions. Nevertheless, we have made great advances in our research projects, welcomed new team members, and arranged several digital seminars to foster scientific exchange.

New research initiatives have been initiated in response to the pandemic. We are for example providing new and essential information on COVID-19-related risks to pregnant women and their newborns, and investigating potential demographic, disease- and pregnancy-related risk factors for Covid-19.

Continued growth

In 2020, we welcomed several new team members and recruited new team members who will start in 2021. We welcomed guest researchers for prolonged stays and hired researchers in part-time positions.

By the end of 2020, 22 women and 31 men were formally associated with CEFH. Our staff includes full-time and part-time researchers, international researchers with whom we have established collaboration agreements, and administrative personnel. In addition, the CEFH team collaborates closely with researchers in Norway and abroad at acclaimed research institutions.

In 2020, we invited all researchers with permanent positions in the Centre to be part of our extended leader group and to take a more active role in the strategic development of the Centre.

A network for PhD candidates at the



Norwegian Institute of Public Health is led from the Centre and includes almost 40 PhD students from many parts of the institute working on a range of research topics.

To strengthen our applications for funding we have built a support system for writing grant applications, giving administrative support and facilitating involvement in the writing processes by all members of the CeFH team. In 2020, we obtained funding for seven new large research projects: an ERC Starting Grant awarded to Maria Magnus, three research projects from the Research Council of Norway, two projects from NordForsk and a project from the U.S. National Institutes of Health. In addition, we have included our new team member Jacqueline Cohen's research project in our project portfolio.

Scientific output

Researchers at the centre have published 240 papers since the Centre was established in 2017, of which 96 were published in 2020. The publications reflect our multidisciplinary approach with publications in demography, genetics, statistical methods, psychology and epidemiology. Many publications are the result of long-lasting collaborations with other research institutions around the world. In this annual report we showcase some examples of our scientific output.

Collaborations and networks

As an interdisciplinary centre, it is especially important to facilitate an open and friendly atmosphere to foster informal discussions between researchers from different disciplines. We have created open weekly seminars, an invested in available workspaces for guest researchers and in attracting long-term international visitors. 2020 was a challenging year for all this. Nevertheless, we have organized over 40 weekly seminars, a digital centre symposium and workshop with international attendance as well as informal digital centre lunches to keep in touch as a team. We strongly believe that these efforts help building resilience and

prepare us for the advent of face-to-face meetings on a daily basis.

We feel privileged and honoured to lead the CeFH team, an outstanding group of people. We are confident that our joint efforts will help us to make exciting discoveries and are looking forward to the years to come.

Per Magnus Centre Director

Siri E. Håberg Centre Deputy Director

HIGHLIGHTS 2020

Selected publications

Bratsberg B, Røgeberg O, & **Skirbekk** V. (2020). Fathers of children conceived using ART have higher cognitive ability scores than fathers of naturally conceived children. *Human Reproduction*, 35(6), 1461-1468.

Carlsen EØ, Magnus MC, Omsland TK, Magnus PM, Håberg SE, & Wilcox AJ. (2020). Stumped by the Hump: The Curious Rise and Fall of Norwegian Birthweights, 1991–2007. *Epidemiology*, 31(4).

Gjerdevik M, Gjessing HK, Romanowska J, Haaland ØA, Jugessur A, Czajkowski NO, & Lie RT. (2020). Design efficiency in genetic association studies. *Statistics in Medicine*, 39(9), 1292-1310. Hart RK, & Kravdal Ø. (2020). Fallende fruktbarhet i Norge [Fertility decline in Norway]. Rapport 2020. Oslo: Folkehelseinstituttet, 2020.

Kravdal Ø, Magnus P, Moum B, & Høivik ML. (2020). Association of Childbearing With a Short-Term Reduced Risk of Crohn Disease in Mothers. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 189(4), 294-304.

Kvalvik LG, **Wilcox AJ**, **Skjærven R**, Østbye T, & Harmon QE. (2020). Term complications and subsequent risk of preterm birth: registry based study. *BMJ*, 369, m1007.





our report on declining fertility in Norway togheter with collaborators from Statistics Norway, the Institute for Social Research and the University of Oslo. Lee Y, Haftorn KL, Denault WRP, Nustad HE, Page CM, Lyle R, Lee-Ødegård S, Moen GH, Prasad RB, Groop LC, Sletner L, Sommer C, Magnus MC, Gjessing HK, Harris JR, Magnus P, Håberg SE, Jugessur A, & Bohlin J. (2020). Blood-based epigenetic estimators of chronological age in human adults using DNA methylation data from the Illumina MethylationEPIC array. *BMC Genomics*, 21(1), 747.

Magnus MC, Guyatt AL, Lawn RB, Wyss AB, Trajanoska K, Küpers LK, Rivadeneira F, Tobin MD, London SJ, Lawlor DA, Millard LAC, & Fraser A. (2020). Identifying potential causal effects of age at menarche: a Mendelian randomization phenome-wide association study. *BMC medicine*, 18(1), 71-71.

Torvik FA, Eilertsen EM, McAdams TA, Gustavson K, Zachrisson HD, Brandlistuen R, Gjerde LC, Havdahl A, Stoltenberg C, Ask H, & Ystrom E. (2020). Mechanisms linking parental educational attainment with child ADHD, depression, and academic problems: a study of extended families in The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 61: 1009-1018.



Happy participants at our gathering in Son in February 2020, shortly before lockdown. Photo: Robert Lyle.

Major events

- February 10-11, 2020: CeFH seminar on research communication, Son
- February 24, 2020: Launch of fertility report, Litteraturhuset
- September 21, 2020: Digital workshop with participants from three large cohort studies: The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC), The Trøndelag Health Study (HUNT) and the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa).
- September 24, 2020: 3rd Annual CEFH Symposium, this year as a digital event.
- December 1, 2020: Digital Centre seminar
- Over 40 seminars

PhD defenses

Miriam Gjerdevik defended her thesis for the PhD degree at the University of Bergen on June 15, 2020. She was also awarded, together with **Rolv Terje Lie** and Øystein Haaland, a tuition award for developing a new teaching program in statistics at the University of Bergen.

Three PhD candidates, **Christina Hansen Edwards**, **Yunsung Lee** and **William Denault** submitted their PhD thesis.

New funding

We obtained funding for eight new large research projects. The new projects are:

European Research Council

 INFERTILITY: Understanding the causal nature of the relationship between infertility and cardiovascular disease, led by Maria C. Magnus

Research Council of Norway

- Women's fertility an essential component of health and well-being, led by Siri E. Håberg
- Sickness in the Family: A Register Study on the Short- and Long-Term Effects of Severe Sickness on Family Members, led by Øystein Kravdal together with Jonathan Wörn and Bjørn-Atle Reme
- Lost in transition? Uncovering social and health consequences of sub-optimal transitions in the education system, led by Martin Flatø
- ADHD medication in pregnancy: understanding the population and outcomes related to treatment use and discontinuation, led by **Jacqueline Cohen**

U.S. National Institutes of Health

 Changing lives, changing brains: How modern family and work life influences ADRD risks, led by Bjørn Heine Strand and Vegard Skirbekk

NordForsk

- SCOPE Scandinavian studies of COvid-19 in PrEgnancy, led by Siri E. Håberg
- Addressing the smoking paradox in the etiology of COVID-19 through population-based studies, our work package led by **Per Magnus**

Recruitment

We recruited one researcher, two postdocs, one PhD candidate and one Medical Research student – Ida H. Caspersen, Thomas Kleppestø, Miriam Gjerdevik, Hans Fredrik Sunde and Lise Andrea Arge.

OUR RESEARCH



The scientific goal of the Centre is to greatly advance the understanding of how changes in patterns of fertility and family structure influence child and adult health through social and biological pathways. To reach this goal, the Centre has put together an international team including epidemiologists, geneticists, demographers, statisticians, and economists.

In this annual report, we describe our research in five integrated themes of research. We also present our key research projects. Most of our research projects and activities cut across several research themes.

Theme I: Maternal and paternal age.

We investigate the impact of advanced maternal and paternal age at childbirth on the risk of disease in the offspring.

Theme 2: Fertility problems.

We investigate the health consequences of subfertility and assisted reproductive technologies in parents and children.

Theme 3: Fertility and family structure.

We investigate the health consequences of many components of reproductive history, such as the number of children/siblings, childlessness, the age at first birth, the interval between births, and family instability.

Theme 4: Statistical methods.

We develop advanced statistical methods that help address research questions in the Centre.

Theme 5: Intergenerational transmission of health.

We investigate how health and disease are transmitted between generations through biological and social pathways.



THEME I

MATERNAL AND PATERNAL AGE Parental age at first birth is increasing in most countries. In Theme I, we investigate the impact of advanced maternal and paternal age at childbirth on diseases in offspring. We study how biological age is associated with fecundity and disease development.

Parental age at first birth is rising in most countries. For example, in Norway, the mean age of mothers at first birth increased from 23.3 years in 1970 to 29.0 years in 2016. The mean age of men at first birth has also increased. At the same time, the total number of children born to each woman has declined across the world, and this is not only because of the later entry into motherhood. One of the Centre's goals is to add to the knowledge about how a higher maternal and paternal age affect pregnancy outcomes and children's health, through social and biological mechanisms.

Norway is an excellent venue to study this because trends are similar to those observed elsewhere in affluent countries. Additionally, unique data collected in Norway enable detailed long-term prospective studies.

One of several possible biological mechanisms that are studied in the Centre involves telomere biology. The social pathways are also diverse. For example, one reason why parental age may affect child health is that older parents are more likely to have higher economic resources to spend on their children. They may also have accumulated more knowledge and may be more mature. On the other hand, they are less likely to survive until the child reaches adulthood. Another issue, addressed under theme 3, is that the age when a person becomes a parent (for the first time) has implications for his or her health, through both biological and social pathways.



FERTILITY PROBLEMS

The use of assisted reproduction technologies is increasing. In Theme 2, we investigate the health consequences of subfertility and assisted reproductive technologies in parents and children. To this end, we employ advanced (epi)genetic analysis and statistical models.

As mothers' and fathers' age at first birth have increased, we have also witnessed increased fecundity problems in the population. There has been a steady increase in the use of assisted reproductive technology (ART) since its introduction in Norway in 1984. Because the total number of births per woman has also decreased, the proportion of children conceived in this way has increased. Today, around 2500 children are born in Norway each year through ART, which is about 4% of all births, and around 7 million children have been born through ART worldwide. Moreover, as in other countries, there has been an increase in childlessness in Norway, from 10% in 1985 to 13% in 2015 for women and much more pronounced in men, from 14% 1985 to 23% in 2015.

Whilst most mothers treated with ART and children born through ART are healthy, there is some evidence pointing to adverse effects. ART has been associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes and increased risk of congenital malformations, infant morbidity and mortality. ART is also associated with several childhood diseases as well as cardiovascular diseases and cancer in mothers. One proposed mechanism for the detrimental effects of ART procedures is epigenetic modifications of the DNA during gametogenesis, fertilisation, and early embryonic development. However, it is not clear whether the observed adverse effects of ART are caused by the procedure itself or if it is caused by the underlying subfertility or higher age of the mother.

We will estimate short and longterm health consequences of ART for women and offspring using a combination of data from registers, cohorts and biological samples. In particular, we are interested in health consequences of subfertility in women and men, and will examine epigenetic changes induced by ART, and determine their possible roles in diseases.



FERTILITY AND FAMILY STRUCTURE

Our goal is to contribute to a better understanding of how the number of children, age at first birth, length of birth intervals, and partnership disruptions affect the health of parents, and how the number of siblings, birth interval lengths and parental disruption affect offspring health.

The demographic setting

As age at first birth has increased and the number of children born to each woman has decreased over the past decades, more people are ending up childless. Additionally, there have been marked changes in marriage, divorce and cohabitation patterns over the last half century: The age at marriage and the proportion of people who never marry have increased, while divorce rates have escalated. Couples living together in consensual unions have largely compensated for this shift away from marriage, but these unions are much more unstable. In combination with an increase in the proportion of children born outside of marriage, and most commonly to cohabiting parents, these patterns and trends in partnership instability have led to a sharp rise in the proportion of children who experience parental disruption. For example, 39% of 17-year old children in 2015 did not live with both their parents. Because many parents form new partnerships after disruption, and often have children in these partnerships, families are becoming more and more complex. The changes in marriage, divorce, cohabitation and family structure have been influenced by (and contributed to) the fertility changes, and the two sets of changes have also been driven by many of the same forces. Because of this

close relationship between fertility and family behaviour, it is reasonable to take both into account in studies of health implications.

Goals

Our goal is to contribute to a better understanding of how the number of children, age at first birth, length of birth intervals, and partnership disruptions affect the health of parents, and how the number of siblings, birth interval lengths and parental disruption affect offspring health. The reproductive factors may affect the parents' health through both biological mechanisms (linked to physiological processes during pregnancy or lactation) and social pathways. As examples of social pathways, the number of children likely affects a person's lifestyle and may be important for access to support in old age, whereas early entry into parenthood may disrupt education or work careers, with later implications for health. Comparisons between fertility-health associations among women and men shed light on the relative importance of biological and social mechanisms.



STATISTICAL METHODS

We develop advanced statistical methods that help address research questions in the Centre.

The Centre's interdisciplinary approach to understand health implications of the recent changes in fertility patterns and family structure requires close collaborations between different disciplines, as well as coordination and development of research methodology. While the different disciplines at the Centre have different traditions, different terminology and different approaches to research methodology, statistical modeling is a unifying theme across all disciplines. We have therefore added statistical methodology as a new, central theme to the original four themes of focus. The figure below illustrates some of the many interdisciplinary links in the use of statistical analyses.

Our research projects employ numerous statistical analysis strategies where we contribute actively to the methods development.



Statistical methodology at the Centre.



We investigate how health and disease are transmitted between generations through biological and social pathways.

INTER-GENERATIONAL TRANSMISSION OF HEALTH

Health factors can be transmitted to subsequent generations in several ways. First, certain characteristics of the parents that are important for their own health, such as their socioeconomic resources, lifestyles and attitudes may be passed on to their children through various types of "social transmission". Second, a trait from the parents can be inherited through genes. Third, the parents' health may affect the daily life in the home, their ability to care for the children, and the children's education and income, all of which in turn may be important for the children's health.

Relative importance of genes and environmental factors

We will estimate the relative importance of genes and environmental factors in transmission of certain diseases and indicators of wellbeing. We will use GWAS data from the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study to calculate genetic risk scores for both adults and offspring. Thus, we can examine the interaction between genetic and social factors with respect to the risk of specific diseases.

Transmissions of disease and risk factors

Using data from two large cohort studies, Cohort of Norway (CONOR)

and the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study, we will analyse transmissions of disease and risk factors (such as smoking, high caloric intake diets, and low levels of physical activity) across three generations, from grandparents via parents to children. Detailed questionnaire data, physiological measures and physical tests will allow us to consider a broad range of biological and socio-economic factors that can be involved.

Analyses across multiple generations

We further plan to extend perspectives on intergenerational transmission of health to more than three generations by using historic demographic data that include seven to nine generations. We will assess whether the health of children today is related to the health of their ancestors. We will take into account the longevity of past generations, and also explore influences via family size and structures, socioeconomic resources and environmental contexts. For these studies, we will make use of the National Historical Population Register. The National Historical Population Register is a project to register and link information from various sources, and thus construct a register of the whole Norwegian population since 1801.

KEY PROJECTS

PROJECTS WITH EXTERNAL FUNDING AND KEY PROJECTS

Reproduction, partner disruption and health

The main aim of the project is to understand the health consequences of changes in fertility patterns and partner disruption. The health consequences are studied at the population level, with special focus on mortality and morbidity from cancer, cardiovascular diseases and mental disorders.

The data collected for this project constitutes the basis for many of our coming research papers. Our research questions are divided in four sub-projects:

- How do maternal/paternal age at birth, number of siblings, and age interval between siblings affect children's health?
- How do the number of children (including childlessness), age at first birth, and interval between births affect adult health?
- How does disruption of parental relationships, and possible parental re-partnering, affect children's health?

• How does disruption of relationships, and possible re-partnering, affect the health of the involved adults?

In the sub-projects, we will study various outcomes, including children's health, adult's health and risk factors for disease and health problems.

In 2020, we got access to data from Statistics Norway, the Cancer Registry of Norway, Control and Payment of Health Refunds (KUHR) and the Norwegian Twin Registry. We have also applied for data from several other registers, but these are not yet in place. We have started to do the first analysis on the dataset.

Project manager: Per Magnus and Øystein Kravdal

START - Study of assisted reproductive technology - epigenetic mechanisms

The main aim of the project is to understand health consequences of subfertility in women and men, and to examine how genetic influences and epigenetic differences are associated with subfertility and the use of assisted reproductive technologies (ART). Both genetic and epigenetic mechanisms play a role in health outcomes after the use of ART. The epigenetic differences in children born with the use of ART compared to naturally conceived children has been investigated during 2020 and is now in its final phase. We are also looking into the mediating effect of DNA methylation on birth outcomes and further expanding analyses of smoking on DNA methylation in children and parents. There is an extensive international interest in the data and results.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway through the Centre of Excellence grant.

Project manager: Siri E. Håberg

ART - Assisted Conceptions - Pregnancy and childhood outcomes

In this project we combine Norwegian registry data and questionnaire data from the MoBa cohort study to investigate causes and consequences of subfertility and assisted conceptions. The project was initiated in 2014 and has been updated with new datasets in 2018. Main outcomes include fetal growth, gestational length, fetal loss, vanishing twins, and health in children and parents with subfertility and use of ART.

In 2020 our Brundtland visiting scholar, Gizachew Tessema, came to visit us and work in this project. We are moving forward with analyses regarding the importance of inter-pregnancy intervals on pregnancy outcomes. We also finalized the work on growth in children born after ART with follow up in MoBa and in registries until 17 years of age.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway through the Centre of Excellence grant.

Project manager: Siri E. Håberg

Metabolic profile and IVF, pregnancy, perinatal and longer-term outcomes

We will combine metabolic profiles, genome-wide genotypic data, and clinical factors to understand causal mechanisms for, and accurately predict, adverse pregnancy, perinatal and postnatal outcomes in in vitro fertilisation (IVF) and spontaneously conceived pregnancies. Differences in pregnancy metabolic profiles are likely to be important, but it is only recently that studies of pregnant women have detailed measurements of metabolic profiles assessed during pregnancy.

We plan to add metabolomic profiles to pregnancy samples on a subgroup of 16 000 women and 5000 of their male partners in MoBa who have genomewide genotypic data on trios. These data will contribute to evidence that will enhance our understanding of the role of pregnancy metabolism on pregnancy and perinatal outcomes. We will use machine learning methods to develop prediction algorithms for each adverse outcome, and also for 'healthy' pregnancy, and test the discrimination and calibration of these, as well as compare them to similar metrics for prediction using established risk factors collected at the first antenatal clinic.

In 2020, the biobank has started pulling the 16000 parental plasma samples that will be analyzed for metabolic compounds. Despite some Covid19-related delays, shipping of the first batch of samples were done. We look forward to finalizing sample pull and start analyses in 2021.

The project is funded by grants to Professor Deborah A Lawlor (ERC Advanced Grant and UK National Institute of Health Research Senior Investigator award).

Key personnel at the Centre: Siri Eldevik Håberg, Per Magnus, Maria C. Magnus

InPreSS - International Pregnancy Drug Safety Studies. Short and long-term safety of drug use in pregnancy

InPreSS is an international collaboration to study the safety of drug use in pregnancy. The overarching objective is to better understand the consequences of in-utero drug exposure on fetal development, birth defects and longer-term outcomes (neurodevelopment outcomes and academic performance) in the child, comparative drug safety, as well as maternal social and health consequences of discontinued drug treatment.

In 2020, we prepared the Nordic register data according to our Common Data Model. Analyses focusing on risks of major congenital malformations (antipsychotics, antiepileptics, antidiabetics), neurodevelopmental disorders (antipsychotics, antiepileptics), and adverse maternal outcomes (antidepressant discontinuation) were carried out. Manuscripts for these aims are in progress. We had a seminar with the Norwegian Medicines Agency on November 16th to share the results of our published and ongoing studies in on use and safety of antidiabetics, antiepileptics, and modafinil in pregnancy. We published 4 papers, presented at 2 conferences (EASD, ICPE), and submitted one paper for publication.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway through the BEDREHELSE program.

Project manager: Kari Furu

Dimjob - Social, demographic and health dimensions of technology-induced job loss

The project will study Norwegian population registries and surveys on occupation and firm data, education, cognitive test performance, personality, coping, health, intergenerational data, social isolation, physiological and mental health trajectories. We will study how these factors relate to how individuals respond in terms of demographic, social and health outcomes, including quality of life, re-employment, disease incidence, training and demographic outcomes (e.g., partnership stability, childbearing, internal migration).

Two postdocs, Jonathan Wörn and Bjørn-Atle Reme started late 2019. They have both focused on analyzing data in 2020.

The projects is funded by the Research Council of Norway's VAM program.

Project manager: Vegard Skirbekk



Snapshot from our 3rd Annual CeFH Symposium. A familiar view for many in 2020.

National Historical Population Register for Norway (HPR) 1800-2024

The main aim of the project is to build a longitudinal population register including all persons who lived in Norway in the period 1800-1964, and which will be integrated with the National Population Register. This register will be very valuable in studies of the population over the life course, and for the research in the Centre. The Historical Population Register is constructed from linking data from censuses, church books and other primary sources.

A new application for funding to continue and extend the present project was submitted to the Research Council of Norway in November 2020. However, even without current funding, work to complete the construction of HPR has continued, partly funded by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Progress on digitalization and linkage of sources from 1900-1960 has progressed particularly well, and we expect major deliverables in 2021 and 2022. We are still committed to facilitate full linkage of the historical registers and datasets with existing modern microdata

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's FORINFRA program since 2013.

Key personnel at the Centre: Kåre Bævre and Per Magnus

HEALTH-GAP. Health, maturity, and the gender gap in education

The primary objectives of the project are to understand the health consequences of gender differences in educational attainment and school performance and to examine whether the difference in timing of physical maturity between girls and boys is a major explanation for the observed gender gaps in education. Educational attainment is likely to affect fertility and health in several ways. Firstly, more educated men and women have increased their fertility compared with their less educated peers. Secondly, combining health risks of low educational attainment with little social support in terms of family network may be particularly damaging for health, and perhaps especially for men's health. Thirdly, an assortative mating among people with low education may further exacerbate individual health risks in this group.

Members of the project continued to be present in the public debate in 2020.

Several scientific papers addressing the key issues were submitted for publication and will be published in 2021. We have also hired Thomas Kleppestø as a postdoc in the project.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's BEDREHELSE program.

Project manager: Fartein Ask Torvik

REMENTA - Reproduction of socioeconomic differences and mental health across generations

The aim of this project is to understand the role of mental health in the reproduction of socioeconomic differences. Children of parents with low socioeconomic status do less well in school and are at risk of drop-out, low education, unemployment, and social exclusion. It is not adequately understood why social differences reproduce. There is a close relationship between socioeconomic status and mental health that signals that mental health could be a key to understand reproduction of social differences and mobility.

The project will utilize survey and genetic data from The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study and register data on health, demography and school performance. We will use administrative register data from the entire population of Norway.

In 2020 we have hired Hans Fredrik Sunde as a PhD candidate and Magnus Nordmo as a postdoc in the project. The first paper in the project was published in 2020 in JCPP, the highest ranking journal in developmental psychology.

Project manager: Fartein Ask Torvik

The Burden of Obesity in Norway

The main aim of the project is to study the impact of obesity on morbidity, mortality, health service use and social insurance benefits in Norway. The project aims to gain a deeper understanding of the total burden of obesity in Norway by estimating individual trajectories and cost of illness by different demographic and social characteristics. Secondly, we aim to elucidate the causal impact of obesity on health and health service use by the use of genetic markers as natural experiments.

In 2020 we have written two articles that are for peer-review. The PhD candidate in the project, Christina Hansen Edwards, submitted her thesis for evaluation and will defend for the degree of PhD in 2021.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's FRIMEDBIO program (Young Research Talents).

Project manager: Jonas Minet Kinge

Evaluation of free school fruit on childhood growth and obesity: a natural experiment

The primary objective of the project is to estimate the effect of the free school fruit program on childhood growth and obesity.

In the period 2007 to 2014, pupils in junior high-schools and combined primary and junior high-schools were given a free fruit/vegetable each day, while pupils in primary schools were not. We have measured height and weight among 13-year olds in more than 150 schools to evaluate the effects of this natural experiment. The data are currently being analysed.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's BEDREHELSE program.

Project manager: Per Magnus

Telomere length, epigenetic age and T cells in women who give birth at an older age

This project aims to investigate female fecundity in the context of three major indices of biological age: telomere length, epigenetic age, and immune status. The hypothesis is that women with a longer telomere length, younger epigenetic age and healthier immune status than their peers have an increased ability to give birth to their first child at an older age.

DNA samples of 2000 trios (mother, father and newborn) from the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa) were selected for this project. Rutgers University (USA) will measure leukocyte telomere length in these 2000 trios, whereas UCLA, United States will measure DNA methylation in 1000 of the mothers aged 32 years and above.

In 2020, two batches of telomere length data were transferred from Rutger University (New Jersey, USA). Preliminary analyses were carried out to replicate known characteristics of telomere length. A PhD candidate in this project, Yunsung Lee, published a paper on epigenetic clocks using the MoBa-START data and submitted his PhD thesis to the University of Oslo.

The project is funded by the Research

Council of Norway's FRIPRO program. Project manager: Astanand Jugessur

Telomeres and female fecundity

The background of the project is the observation that women with delayed menopause and those who give birth to children later in life show less cardiovascular disease and live longer than other women. Women with constitutively long telomere length have delayed menopause, show less cardiovascular disease and also live longer than other women.

The central hypothesis of this project is that women who bear children later in life without the use of ART might have a constitutively long telomere length. The aims of the study are: 1) to measure telomere length in 1700 mothers who gave birth at ages 18 years or older, including 1000 mothers who gave birth at the age 35 years and older; 2) measure telomere length in 300 mothers who gave birth at the age of 35 years and older with the aid of in-vitro fertilization; 3) measure telomere length in the 2000 fathers (the sexual partners) of the mothers in aims 1 and 2); and 4) to measure telomere length in newborns of these parents.

In 2020, the PhD candidate in the project, Kristine Løkås Haftorn, submitted the first paper and presented her work at two PhD conferences.

The project is funded by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) and by the Research Council of Norway through the Centre of Excellence grant.

Key personnel at the Centre: Astanand Jugessur, Per Magnus, Håkon Gjessing.

The intrauterine redox state and telomere length in the newborn

The aim of the project is to examine (1) the association between newborn's leukocyte telomere length and mitochondrial genotypes, and (2) associations between newborn's leukocyte telomere length and maternal smoking during pregnancy.

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has had major consequences on acquiring the mtDNA sequence data central to the original project. Not only has COVID-19 impeded progress in securing the necessary paperwork for the material transfer agreement between our collaborator, UPENN and the NIPH, but since August 2020, a recent verdict from the EU Court of justice on the Schrems II case (C-311/18) has invalidated a previous EU-US agreement that allowed the transfer of sensitive personal information from Europe to third-party countries such as the US. We are currently working on solving these issues.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's FRIMEDBIO program.

Project manager: Håkon Gjessing, Astanand Jugessur



We are celebrating new projects and life in general at our centre director's traditionnal summer garden party in June. *Photos: Christian Page*.

NEW PROJECTS IN 2020

Maternal Effects on Asthma - Revisiting and dissecting the maternal effect on childhood asthma

It is well established that childhood asthma is more common when the mother has asthma than when the father has it. Although this has been reproduced by many researchers, none of them have come up with a good explanation for the effect. At present there is no efficient primary prevention of childhood asthma, due to lack of etiological insight. We aim to discover the biology behind the maternal effect using data from a large pregnancy cohort, the Norwegian Mother, Father, and Child Cohort Study (MoBa), and from nationwide registries.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's FRIMEDBIO program.

Project manager: Per Magnus

Women's fertility – an essential component of health and well-be-ing

More women than before seek treatment for infertility. Infertility, and more generally childlessness, is associated with increased risk of early death and chronic disease. The mechanisms behind these associations are poorly understood. Both social and biological pathways are suggested. Underlying causes of subfertility may contribute to later disease risk. Not having been pregnant, breastfeeding or having children may directly affect the physiology, but also the lifestyle and social support of women, and thereby increase the risk of adverse health. Understanding the causes and consequences of infertility is important for understanding women's health and well-being.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's KVINNEHELSE funding scheme.

Project manager: Siri E. Håberg

Sickness in the Family: A Register Study on the Short- and Long-Term Effects of Severe Sickness on Family Members

Even with a well-developed welfare scheme like in Norway, severe sickness can have significant negative effects on the life trajectory of both the patient and their close family members. We investigate the effects of severe sickness on family members' labor market participation, educational achievements and health, both in the short and long term. Our focus will be on young families, where the offspring are particularly dependent on the parents.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's VAM programme.

Project manager: Øystein Kravdal, together with Bjørn-Atle Reme and Jonathan Wörn

Lost in transition? Uncovering social and health consequences of sub-optimal transitions in the education system

The overarching aim of this project is to understand the effects of transitions in the education system on later labour market participation, family formation, and health. The project will consider how starting school at a suitable age, attending an upper secondary school of choice, and managing to complete upper secondary education affect later social participation and health.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's FRIHUMSAM programme.

Project manager: Martin Flatø

ADHD medication in pregnancy: understanding the population and outcomes related to treatment use and discontinuation

This project sets out to understand risks associated with use or discontinuation of drug treatment for ADHD during pregnancy. The project will use valuable existing data sources including population-based national health registries from Norway and Sweden and the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). We will be collaborating with researchers in Canada and Sweden for high quality studies that aim to generate new knowledge that will empower women with ADHD to make informed treatment choices and advance research on the safe use of medicines during pregnancy.

The project is funded by the Research Council of Norway's FRIPRO - Young Research Talents programme.

Project manager: Jacqueline Cohen

INFERTILITY: Understanding the causal nature of the relationship between infertility and cardiovascular disease

The INFERTILITY project aims at filling several existing knowledge gaps to understand the nature of the relationship between infertility and cardiovascular disease. The working hypothesis is that both infertile men and women have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, and that this might at least partly reflect a greater burden of cardiovascular disease risk factors.

The project is funded by the European Research Council's Starting Grant funding scheme.

Project manager: Maria Magnus

Changing lives, changing brains: How modern family and work life influences ADRD risks

The prevalence of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias (ADRD) is projected to triple by 2050. Currently, there is no known effective medical treatment for ADRD. Prevention through behavioral changes affecting ADRD risk is therefore of utmost importance. Rapid changes that characterize modern family life and work are two critical domains that likely impact ADRD risk. A shift to "modern" family structures and work tasks have occurred relatively early in Norway, and unique data availability allows these changes to be studied prospectively to predict coming changes in ADRD in the US and other countries.

The project is funded by the U.S. National Institutes of Health Research Project Grant Program (R01)

Project manager: Bjørn Heine Strand, together with Vegard Skirbekk

Schooling in children with ADHD

Children with ADHD perform on average poorer in school than other children. It is still unclear how big this disadvantage is, and which subjects these children struggle with the most. It is also unclear to what extent different prevalence of ADHD between boys and girls contributes to boys' poorer performance in school. We investigate these questions by using unique register data for the entire Norwegian population, which includes diagnoses, results from national tests and grades in upper secondary school.

The project is funded by the Oslo University Hospital's NevSom funding. Project manager: Fartein Torvik

SCOPE- Scandinavian studies of COvid-19 in PrEgnancy

It is not known if pregnant women are especially susceptible to COVID-19, or if they are at higher risk of developing severe symptoms and complications. Many countries have included preg-

nant women in the group of particularly susceptible individuals, out of a precautionary principle. The limited evidence available today, do suggest that pregnant women with COVID-19 and their newborns are at increased risk of adverse outcomes, and vertical transmission (from mother to foetus) cannot be ruled out and may affect foetuses in yet unrecognized ways. Combining results from the three Scandinavian countries will strengthen our ability to study severe COVID-19 illness, susceptible subgroups and non-frequent outcomes. The Scandinavian countries have had different course of the pandemic, and this enables us to compare results from different contexts with similar data resources.

The project is funded by NordForsk's Nordic Health Data Research Projects on Covid-19 programme

Project manager: Siri E. Håberg

Addressing the smoking paradox in the etiology of COVID-19 through population-based studies

The role of tobacco use in the incidence and in the prognosis of COVID-19 has raised much international interest, due to contrasting findings reported so far in the scientific literature. Given the public health importance of tobacco use as risk factor for morbidity and mortality it is urgent to provide both the scientific and the broad lay community with sound information from large population studies. We will analyse the potentially causal association of tobacco use (smoking and snus) with incidence and prognosis of Covid-19 using existing longitudinal population studies in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

The project is funded by NordForsk's Nordic Health Data Research Projects on Covid-19 programme

Project manager: Maria Rosaria Galanti (Karolinska Institutet) and Per Magnus

PHD PROJECTS IN 2020

Miriam Gjerdevik "Family-based genetic association models" Miriam defended her thesis on June 15 2020 at the University of Bergen

> Christina Hansen Edwards "Economic Consequences of Elevated BMI in Norway" Christina submitted her thesis in 2020

William Denault "Wavelet-based methods in genetic epidemiology" William submitted his thesis in 2020

Yunsung Lee «Human aging, DNA methylation, and telomere length: Investigating indices of biological aging" Yunsung submitted his thesis in 2020

> Ellen Øen Carlsen "Parental age and subfertility as risk factors for adverse pregnancy outcome"

Kristine Løkås Haftorn "Using DNA methylation for estimation of gestational age, and its application to ART-pregnancies"

> Dana Kristjansson "Mitochondrial DNA and Norwegians"

Hans Fredrik Sunde "Mental health and intergenerational transmission of social differences"

Lise Andrea Arge

"Miscarriage history and subsequent fecundability: Results from the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study" Medical Student Research Program at the University of Oslo

POSTDOC PROJECTS IN 2020

Thomas Kleppestø "Health Gap: Health, maturity, and gender gap in education"

Vera Mitter

"Risk of infections and chronic immune-mediated diseases among children conceived by assisted reproductive technologies"

Bjørn-Atle Reme "The DIMJOB project: Impact of technological progress on the labor market"

Jonathan Wörn "The DIMJOB project: Consequences of unemployment for families and children"

NEW TEAM MEMBERS 2020

SEVEN RESEARCHERS STARTED IN 2020















Lise Andrea Arge

Lise became a member of the Centre team in August 2020. She is a student at the Medical Student Research Program at the University of Oslo (Forskerlinjen) and is currently working on a project exploring the relationship between previous miscarriages and subsequent fecundability, using data form the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study.

Ida Henriette Caspersen

Ida started at the Centre in September 2020. She holds a master's degree in cellular and molecular biology from NTNU and a PhD in environmental epidemiology from the University of Oslo where she investigated early life exposure to environmental toxicants and associations with child neurodevelopment. Before joining the Centre, she was a postdoc at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health. She works on various projects related to Covid-19.

Jacqueline Cohen

Jacqueline joined the Centre in November 2020. She obtained her PhD at McGill University in 2015 and has been a postdoc in epidemiology at Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health before coming to the Norwegian Institute of Public Health in 2018. At the Centre, she is the principal investigator of the project ADHD medication in pregnancy: understanding the population and outcomes related to treatment use and discontinuation.

Miriam Gjerdevik

Miriam started in a postdoc position at the Centre in August 2020. She is a biostatistician with a master's degree in mathematical statistics from the University of Bergen where she also obtained her PhD on family-based genetic association models in 2020. She has been affiliated with the Centre during her PhD. In her postdoc she aims to develop new methodology in family-based biobank data.

Thomas Kleppestø

Thomas started at the Centre in November 2020. He holds a PhD in Psychology from the University of Oslo where he studied the roles of genetics, environments, evolution and personality in the formation of political attitudes. As a postdoc in the Health Gap project at the Centre, he will investigate the causes of sex differences in educational achievement, and the consequences this might have for mental health.

Andreas Nydal

Andreas joined the Centre in November 2020 with the aim of developing a PhD project. He is a trained medical doctor from the University of Oslo, and has specialized in psychiatry. Andreas has a broad interest in fertility and epidemiology, in particular related to male infertility and gender dysphoria.

Hans Fredrik Sunde

Hans Fredrik joined the Centre in August 2020. He holds a master's degree in psychology from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology, where he specialized on the subject learning; brain, behavior and environment. Hans Fredrik will investigate the close link between mental health and social differences, which could be a key for understanding how social differences are transmitted through generations.

NEW PART-TIME POSITIONS IN 2020



Espen Moen Eilertsen

Espen holds a PhD on genetic and environmental etiology of childhood ADHD from the Department of Psychology at the University of Oslo, where he is currently employed as a postdoc. At the Centre, Espen is involved in the Rementa-project working with on family-based intergenerational analysis of register data.



Robert Lyle

Robert holds a BSc in Genetics and a PhD in Human Genetics and is Core Facility Leader and Senior Scientist at the Norwegian Sequencing Centre at the University of Oslo. At the Centre, Robert is involved in the START project working on genetic and epigenetic analysis of offspring born after assisted reproductive technologies and their parents.

GUEST RESEARCHERS IN 2020



Ian Colman

Ian is Professor at the School of Epidemiology & Public Health at the University of Ottawa, Canada. He visited the Centre from August, 2019, to June, 2020, and worked with the MoBa study to investigate how stressors early in life influence Norwegian mothers' mental health, their relationship with their partner, and the mental health of their offspring. He also worked with the Studentenes Helse- og Trivselsundersøkelse (SHoT study) to investigate how social media and substance use are associated with suicidality in Norwegian university students. Ian is still an affiliate at the Centre after moving back to Canada.



Vera Mitter

Vera is a graduated Pharmacist and holds a MSc in Demography and Health from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK. In June 2020, she finished her PhD in epidemiology on obstetric and perinatal outcomes of assisted reproductive technologies (ART) at the University of Bern, Switzerland. Vera obtained a mobility grant from the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF) to conduct a Postdoc at the Center for Fertility and Health at FHI. Since September 2020 she works with Maria Magnus and Siri Håberg on the long term health of children after ART, using MoBa and Norwegian Registry data.



Gavin Pereira

Gavin is a perinatal epidemiologist, environmental health researcher and biostatistician in the discipline of Epidemiology and Biostatistics at the School of Public Health, Curtin University. He is a visiting professor at the Centre for Fertility and Health in 2020-2021 working on several project and research topics such as algorithms for predicting stillbirth and perinatal morbidity, maternal and environmental exposures, effects of interpregnancy intervals. He is also developing a prepregnancy cohort in Western Australia.

THE GRO HARLEM BRUNDTLAND VISITING SCHOLARSHIP

The Centre is strongly committed to the education and engagement of young researchers and has established the Gro Harlem Brundtland Visiting Scholarship. This visiting scholar program hosts young researchers from Norway and abroad to engage in collaborative research and to participate in and enrich the research community at the Centre and at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health. The scholarship was announced for the first time in May 2018, and we plan to open for new applications on a yearly basis.



Gizachew Tessema

Gizachew Tessema was awarded the Gro Harlem Brundtland Visiting Scholarship in 2019, and stayed at the Centre from Jan-Mar 2020.

Gizachew completed his PhD in Public Health in 2018 from the University of Adelaide, Australia. Prior to that, he graduated his MPH and bachelor's degrees in Ethiopia. His main research focus includes, but not limited to, perinatal epidemiology, family planning and contraception and global health. In 2020, he has been awarded the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council Emerging Leaders Fellowship (2021-2025) to develop risk stratification model to prevent avoidable perinatal morbidity and mortality in Australia. He is currently basing at Curtin University, Western Australia.

During his stay at the Centre, Gizachew investigated the role of interpregnancy interval misclassification bias on the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. He also studied the association between interpregnancy interval and adverse pregnancy outcomes among pregnancies following miscarriages. For both studies, Gizachew accessed data linkage that combined the Medical Birth Registry, Patient Registry, and the general practitioner database.

Gizachew's stay at the Centre was also supported by the Charter Hall Collaboration Award he received from the Raine Medical Foundation at the University of Western Australia.

PEOPLE

Leader Group



Per Magnus Centre Director



Siri E. Håberg Deputy Centre Director



Håkon K. Gjessing Principal Investigator



Øystein Kravdal Principal Investigator



Vegard F. Skirbekk Principal Investigator



Fredrik Swift Head of Administration

Researchers



Lise Andrea Arge Medical Research Student Researcher



Jon Bohlin



Bernt Bratsberg Researcher



Kåre Bævre Researcher



Ellen Øen Carlsen PhD candidate







Jacqueline Cohen Researcher

Kari Furu

Researcher

Álvaro Hernaéz

Postdoc



lan Colman Visiting Professor



William Denault PhD candidate



Christina H. Edwards PhD candidate



Espen Moen Eilertsen Researcher



Martin Flatø

Researcher

Rannveig Kaldager Hart Researcher







Postdoc



Kristine Løkås Haftorn PhD candidate



Researcher



Hans Ivar Hanevik





Dana Kristjansson PhD candidate





* list updated March 2021



Astanand Jugessur Researcher



Jonas Minet Kinge Researcher



Thomas Kleppestø

Postdoc



Rolv Terje Lie Researcher



Robert Lyle Researcher



Maria C. Magnus Researcher



Vera Mitter Postdoc



Magnus Nordmo Postdoc



Andreas Nydal Researcher



Christian Page Researcher



Gavin Pereira Visiting Professor



Espen Beer Prydz PhD candidate



Bjørn-Atle Reme Postdoc



Liv Bente Romundstad



Rolv Skjærven Researcher

Aage Tverdal

Researcher



Siri Skodvin PhD candidate

Jonathan Wörn Postdoc



Researcher



PhD candidate

Administrative staff



Katrine Kranstad Project Coordinator



Randi Sekkeseter Project Coordinator



Linda Selje Sunde Project Coordinator



Beate Østengen Project Coordinator

Affiliated researchers

These scholars supported our application for the status of Centre of Excellence or have a formalised role as affiliated researchers.

Abraham Aviv, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, USA Eric Bonsang, Université de Paris Dauphine, France Alice Goisis, University College London, UK Emily Grundy, University of Essex, UK Hans-Peter Kohler, University of Pennsylvania, USA Mikko Myrskylä, Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany

Haakon Nustad, DeepInsight

Laura Oakley, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK Julia Romanowska, University of Bergen Wendy Sigle, London School of Economics and Political Science, UK George Davey Smith, University of Bristol, UK Ezra S. Susser, Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health Allen J. Wilcox, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, USA



Karoline Hansen Skåra





PhD candidate















Fartein Ask Torvik Researcher









SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE



David Leon Professor of epidemiology Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK.



Roberta B. Ness Rockwell professor of public health University of Texas, Houston, USA.



Torkild Hovde Lyngstad Professor of sociology Department of Sociology and Human Geography University of Oslo, Norway.



Susan Sawyer Professor of adolescent health The University of Melbourne and Director of the RCH Centre for Adolescent Health, Australia.



Matthijs Kalmijn

Professor of sociology and demography University of Amsterdam, Netherlands and

Senior Researcher at Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute.



Yudi Pawitan Professor of biostatistics Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics Karolinska Institutet, Sweden.



Dag Erik Undlien Professor of medical genetics Department of Genetics Oslo University Hospital University of Oslo, Norway.

The mandate of the Scientific Advisory Committees is to:

- Take part in discussions of the Centre's research strategy and scientific challenges throughout the entire project period. The committee may also provide advice on other types of issues.
- Provide strategic advice to the Centre, based on international trends and scientific development within the field of fertility and health. As far as possible, the SAC should also be able to provide advice that is directly relevant to Norwegian needs and strategies.
- Assume an active role in monitoring the performance and scientific excellence of the Centre.
- Provide annually a short status report on the development of the Centre, drawing on annual reports and other material made available by the Centre.

ORGANISATION

ORGANISATION CHART FOR THE NORWEGIAN INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC HEALTH



ORGANISATION OF THE CENTRE



INDICATORS 2017-2020









PUBLICATIONS 2020

ARTICLES IN SCIENTIFIC JOURNALS

Abdel-Rahman ME, El-Heneidy A, Benova L, & **Oakley L**. (2020). Early feeding practices and associated factors in Sudan: a crosssectional analysis from multiple Indicator cluster survey. *International Breastfeeding Journal*, 15(1), 41.

Abel MH, **Caspersen IH**, Sengpiel V, Jacobsson B, Meltzer HM, **Magnus P**, Alexander J, & Brantsæter AL. (2020). Insufficient maternal iodine intake is associated with subfecundity, reduced foetal growth, and adverse pregnancy outcomes in the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study. *BMC medicine*, 18(1), 211.

Akingbuwa WA, Hammerschlag AR, Jami ES, Allegrini AG, Karhunen V, Sallis H, Ask H, Askeland RB, Baselmans B, Diemer E. Hagenbeek FA. Havdahl A. Hottenga II, Mbarek H, Rivadeneira F, Tesli M, van Beijsterveldt C, Breen G, Lewis CM, Thapar A, Boomsma DI, Kuja-Halkola R, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Magnus P, Rimfeld K, Ystrom E, Jarvelin MR, Lichtenstein P, Lundstrom S, Munafo MR, Plomin R, Tiemeier H, Nivard MG, Bartels M, Middeldorp CM, and the Bipolar D, & Major Depressive Disorder Working Groups of the Psychiatric Genomics C. (2020). Genetic Associations Between Childhood Psychopathology and Adult Depression and Associated Traits in 42998 Individuals: A Meta-Analysis. JAMA Psychiatry, 77 (7), 715-728.

Barlinn R, Trogstad L, Rollag H, Frøen F, **Magnus P**, & Dudman SG. (2020). Parvovirus B19 DNAemia in pregnant women in relation to perinatal death:A nested case-control study within a large population-based pregnancy cohort. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 99(7), 856-864. Berentsen GD, Azzolini F, Skaug HJ, Lie RT, & Gjessing HK. (2020). Heritability curves: A local measure of heritability in family models. *Statistics in medicine*, 40(6), 1357–1382.

Bjurulf B, **Magnus P**, Hallböök T, & Strømme P. (2020). Potassium citrate and metabolic acidosis in children with epilepsy on the ketogenic diet: a prospective controlled study. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 62(1), 57-61.

Bohlin J, Rose B, Brynildsrud O, & Birgitte Freiesleben De B. (2020). A simple stochastic model describing genomic evolution over time of GC content in microbial symbionts. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 503, 110389.

Bourne R et al. including **Skirbekk V**. (2020). Trends in prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment over 30 years: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *The Lancet Global Health*, 9(2), e130-e143.

Brandlistuen RE, **Flatø M**, Stoltenberg C, Helland SS, & Wang MV. (2020). Gender gaps in preschool age:A study of behavior, neurodevelopment and pre-academic skills. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 1403494820944740.

Bratsberg B, Rogeberg O, & **Skirbekk V**. (2020). Fathers of children conceived using ART have higher cognitive ability scores than fathers of naturally conceived children. *Human Reproduction*, 35(6), 1461-1468.

Brekke I, Evensen M, **Hart RK**. (2020). Uptake of Attendance Benefit for Children with a Disability in Norway: Impact of Socioeconomic Status and Immigrant Background. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 22(1). **Carlsen EØ, Magnus MC**, Omsland TK, **Magnus PM, Håberg SE, & Wilcox AJ**. (2020). Stumped by the Hump: The Curious Rise and Fall of Norwegian Birthweights, 1991–2007. *Epidemiology*, 31(4).

Cesta CE, Engeland A, Karlsson P, Kieler H, Reutfors J, & **Furu K**. (2020). Incidence of Malformations After Early Pregnancy Exposure to Modafinil in Sweden and Norway. JAMA, 324(9), 895-897.

Cheesman R, **Eilertsen EM**, Ahmadzadeh YI, Gjerde LC, Hannigan LJ, Havdahl A, Young AI, Eley TC, Njølstad PR, **Magnus P**, Andreassen OA, Ystrom E, & McAdams TA. (2020). How important are parents in the development of child anxiety and depression? A genomic analysis of parentoffspring trios in the Norwegian Mother Father and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). *BMC medicine*, 18(1), 284.

Clayborne ZM, Kingsbury M, Sampasa-Kinyaga H, Sikora L, Lalande KM, & **Colman I.** (2020). Parenting practices in childhood and depression, anxiety, and internalizing symptoms in adolescence: a systematic review. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology.

Cohen JM, Cesta CE, **Furu K**, Einarsdottir K, Gissler M, Havard A, Hernandez-Diaz S, Huybrechts KF, Kieler H, Leinonen MK, Li J, Reutfors J, Schaffer A, Selmer R, Yu Y, Zoega H, & Karlstad O. (2020). Prevalence trends and individual patterns of antiepileptic drug use in pregnancy 2006-2016:A study in the five Nordic countries, United States, and Australia. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 29(8), 913-922.

Cohen JM, Selmer R, **Furu K**, & Karlstad Ø. (2020). Interrupted time series analysis to assess changes in prescription filling around conception and implications for exposure misclassification. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 29(6), 745-749.

Cools S, **Flatø M**, & Kotsadam A. (2020). Rainfall shocks and intimate partner violence in sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Peace Research*, 57(3), 377-390.

Czajkowski N, Kendler KS, **Torvik FA**, Ystrom E, Rosenström T, Gillespie NA, & Reichborn-Kjennerud T. (2020). Caffeine consumption, toxicity, tolerance and withdrawal; shared genetic influences with normative personality and personality disorder traits. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*.

De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka MS, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, Scaravelli G, Smeenk J, Vidakovic S, Goossens V, The European IVF-monitoring Consortium (EIM) for the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE). including **Romundstad LB**. (2020).ART in Europe, 2015: results generated from European registries by ESHRE. *Human reproduction open*, 2020(1), hoz038-hoz038.

Ding L, Blitz MJ, Wing DA, Epstein AJ, Gjessing HK, & Wilson ML. (2020). PHLDA2 gene polymorphisms and risk of HELLP syndrome and severe preeclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertension*, 19, 190-194.

Duko B, Ayano G, **Pereira G**, Betts K, & Alati R. (2020). Prenatal tobacco use and the risk of mood disorders in offspring: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 55(12), 1549-1562.

Duko B, **Pereira G**, Betts K, Tait RJ, Newnham J, & Alati R. (2020). Associations of prenatal alcohol exposure and offspring harmful alcohol use: findings from the Raine Study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 217, 108305.

Duko B, **Pereira G**, Betts K, Tait RJ, Newnham J, & Alati R. (2020). Prenatal alcohol and tobacco use and the risk of depression in offspring at age of 17 years: findings from the Raine Study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 279, 426-433.

Ejigu Y, Magnus JH, Sundby J, & **Magnus MC**. (2020). Differences in Growth of HIV-exposed Uninfected Infants in Ethiopia According to Timing of In-utero Antiretroviral Therapy Exposure. *The Pediatric infectious disease journal*, 39(8), 730-736.

Foo DYP, Sarna M, **Pereira G**, Moore HC, Fell DB, & Regan AK. (2020). Early Childhood Health Outcomes Following In Utero Exposure to Influenza Vaccines: A Systematic Review. *Pediatrics*, 146(2), e20200375. Forthun I, Lie RT, Strandberg-Larsen K, Solheim MH, Moster D, **Wilcox AJ**, Mortensen LH, & Tollånes MC. (2020). Parental education and the risk of cerebral palsy for children: an evaluation of causality. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 62(10), 1176-1181

Gebremedhin AT, Regan AK, Ball S, Betrán AP, Foo D, Gissler M, **Håberg SE**, Malacova E, Marinovich ML, & **Pereira G**. (2020). Interpregnancy interval and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: A population-based cohort study. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*.

Gin B, Sim N, **Skrondal A**, & Rabe-Hesketh S. (2020). A Dyadic IRT Model. *Psychometrika*, 85(3), 815-836.

Gjerdevik M, Gjessing HK, Romanowska J, Haaland ØA, Jugessur A, Czajkowski NO, & Lie RT. (2020). Design efficiency in genetic association studies. *Statistics in Medicine*, 39(9), 1292-1310.

Goisis A, Håberg SE, Hanevik HI, Magnus MC, & Kravdal Ø. (2020). The demographics of assisted reproductive technology births in a Nordic country. *Human Reproduction*, 35(6), 1441-1450.

Grant A, **Colman I**, & Freeman EE. (2020). Impact of the Improper Adjustment for Age in Research on Age-Related Macular Degeneration: An Example Using Data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*, I-4.

Gulseth HL, Helland E, Johansen KI, Gravningen K, Eide HN, **Håberg SE**, & Bakken IJ. (2020). Deaths after confirmed SARS-CoV-2 in Norway. *Tidsskrift for den Norske Laegeforening*

Gunnes N, **Gjessing HK**, Bakken IJ, Ghaderi S, Gran JM, Hungnes O, **Magnus P**, Samuelsen SO, **Skrondal A**, Stoltenberg C, Trogstad L, **Wilcox AJ**, & **Håberg SE**. (2020). Seasonal and pandemic influenza during pregnancy and risk of fetal death: A Norwegian registry-based cohort study. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 35(4): 371–379

Hammond NG, & **Colman I**. (2020). The Role of Positive Health Behaviors in the Relationship Between Early Life Stress and Migraine. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain*, 60(6), 1111-1123.

Hardy M, **Skirbekk V**, & Stonawski M. (2020). The Religiously Unaffiliated in Germany, 1949–2013: Contrasting Patterns of Social Change in East and West. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 61(2), 254-286.

Hauge SH, Bakken IJ, de Blasio BF, & Håberg SE. (2020). Risk conditions in

children hospitalized with influenza in Norway, 2017-2019. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 20(1), 769.

He J-R, Ramakrishnan R, Hirst JE, Bonaventure A, Francis SS, Paltiel O, Håberg SE, Lemeshow S, Olsen S, Tikellis G, Magnus P, Murphy MFG, Wiemels JL, Linet MS, & Dwyer T. (2020). Maternal Infection in Pregnancy and Childhood Leukemia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 217, 98-109.e108.

Inparaj S, Buckingham M, **Oakley L**, Seed PT, Lucas S, & Oteng-Ntim E. (2020). Pulmonary complications for women with sickle cell disease in pregnancy: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 75(7), 568-575.

Jaddoe VWV, Felix JF, Andersen A-MN, Charles M-A, Chatzi L, Corpeleijn E, Donner N, Elhakeem A, Eriksson JG, Foong R, Grote V, Haakma S, Hanson M, Harris JR, Heude B, Huang R-C, Inskip H, Järvelin M-R, Koletzko B, Lawlor DA, Lindeboom M, McEachan RRC, Mikkola TM, Nader JLT, de Moira AP, Pizzi C, Richiardi L, Sebert S, Schwalber A, Sunyer J, Swertz MA, Vafeiadi M, Vrijheid M, Wright J, Duijts L & LifeCycle Project Group including Harris JR & Magnus P. (2020). The LifeCycle Project-EU Child Cohort Network: a federated analysis infrastructure and harmonized data of more than 250,000 children and parents. European Journal of Epidemiology, 35(7), 709-724.

Kingsbury M, **Reme B-A**, Skogen JC, Sivertsen B, Øverland S, Cantor N, Hysing M, Petrie K, & **Colman I**. (2021). Differential associations between types of social media use and university students' non-suicidal self-injury and suicidal behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 115, 106614.

Kravdal Ø. (2020). Are sibling models a suitable tool in analyses of how reproductive factors affect child mortality? *Demographic Research*, 42(28), 777-798.

Kravdal Ø. (2020). Effects of previous birth interval length on child outcomes can be estimated in a sibling analysis even when there are only two siblings. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 00: 1–9.

Kravdal Ø, Magnus P, Moum B, & Høivik ML. (2020). Association of Childbearing With a Short-Term Reduced Risk of Crohn Disease in Mothers. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 189(4), 294-304.

Kravdal Ø, **Tverdal A**, & Grundy E. (2020). The association between parity, CVD mortality and CVD risk factors among Norwegian women and men. European Journal of Public Health, 30(6):1133-1139

Kvalvik LG, **Wilcox AJ**, **Skjærven R**, Østbye T, & Harmon QE. (2020). Term complications and subsequent risk of preterm birth: registry based study. *BMJ*, 369, m1007.

Lee Y, Haftorn KL, Denault WRP, Nustad HE, Page CM, Lyle R, Lee-Ødegård S, Moen GH, Prasad RB, Groop LC, Sletner L, Sommer C, Magnus MC, Gjessing HK, Harris JR, Magnus P, Håberg SE, Jugessur A, & Bohlin J. (2020). Blood-based epigenetic estimators of chronological age in human adults using DNA methylation data from the Illumina MethylationEPIC array. BMC Genomics, 21(1), 747.

Lewis P, Hellmich M, Fritschi L, Tikellis G, Morfeld P, Groß JV, Foster RG, Paltiel O, Klebanoff MA, Golding J, Olsen S, **Magnus P,** Ponsonby A-L, Linet MS, Ward MH, Caporaso N, Dwyer T, & Erren TC. (2020). Perinatal photoperiod and childhood cancer: pooled results from 182,856 individuals in the international childhood cancer cohort consortium (I4C). *Chronobiology International*, 1-14.

Liu C-W, Andersson B, & **Skrondal A**. (2020). A Constrained Metropolis–Hastings Robbins–Monro Algorithm for Q Matrix Estimation in DINA Models. *Psychometrika*, 85(2), 322-357.

Liu X, Plana-Ripoll O, Ingstrup KG, Agerbo E, **Skjærven R**, & Munk-Olsen T. (2020). Postpartum psychiatric disorders and subsequent live birth: a populationbased cohort study in Denmark. *Human Reproduction*, 35(4), 958-967.

Lubczyńska MJ, Muetzel RL, Marroun HE, Basagaña X, Strak M, **Denault W**, Jaddoe VWV, Hillegers M, Vernooij MW, Hoek G, White T, Brunekreef B, Tiemeier H, & Guxens M. (2020). Exposure to Air Pollution during Pregnancy and Childhood, and White Matter Microstructure in Preadolescents. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 128(2), 027005.

Lund IO, **Eilertsen EM**, Gjerde LC, **Torvik FA**, Røysamb E, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, & Ystrom E. (2020). Maternal Drinking and Child Emotional and Behavior Problems. *Pediatrics*, 145(3), e20192007.

Maeland KS, **Morken NH**, Schytt E, Aasheim V, & Nilsen RM. (2020). Placental abruption in immigrant women in Norway: A population-based study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*.

Magnus MC, Guyatt AL, Lawn RB, Wyss AB, Trajanoska K, Küpers LK, Rivadeneira F, Tobin MD, London SJ, Lawlor DA, Millard LAC, & Fraser A. (2020). Identifying potential causal effects of age at menarche: a Mendelian randomization phenome-wide association study. *BMC medicine*, 18(1), 71-71.

Malacova E, Tippaya S, Bailey HD, Chai K, Farrant BM, Gebremedhin AT, Leonard H, Marinovich ML, Nassar N, Phatak A, Raynes-Greenow C, Regan AK, Shand AW, Shepherd CCJ, Srinivasjois R, Tessema GA, & Pereira G. (2020). Stillbirth risk prediction using machine learning for a large cohort of births from Western Australia, 1980–2015. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 5354.

Malmstrom O, Håberg SE, & Morken NH. (2020). Probability and outcomes of second pregnancy after HELLP syndrome in the first: A population-based registry study. *Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica*, 99(9), 1206–1213.

Marinovich ML, Regan AK, Gissler M, **Magnus MC**, Håberg SE, Mayo JA, Shaw GM, Bell J, Nassar N, Ball S, Gebremedhin AT, Marston C, de Klerk N, Betrán AP, Padula AM, & **Pereira G**. (2020). Associations between interpregnancy interval and preterm birth by previous preterm birth status in four highincome countries: a cohort study. *BJOG* : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology.

Masengo L, Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Chaput J-P, Hamilton HA, & **Colman I**. (2020). Energy drink consumption, psychological distress, and suicidality among middle and high school students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 268, 102-108.

Merid SK et al. including **Page CM**, **Håberg SE**, **Magnus P**. (2020). Epigenome-wide meta-analysis of blood DNA methylation in newborns and children identifies numerous loci related to gestational age. *Genome Medicine*, 12(1), 25.

Mortensen LH, Cnattingius S, Gissler M, Klungsøyr K, **Skjærven R**, Nybo Andersen A-M, & Nielsen HS. (2020). Sex of the first-born and obstetric complications in the subsequent birth. A study of 2.3 million second births from Denmark, Finland, Norway, and Sweden. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 99(10):1381-1386

Nystad W, Hjellvik V, Larsen IK, Ariansen I, Helland E, Johansen KI, Gulbrandsen J, Gulseth HL, Eide HN, **Håberg SE**, Karlstad Ø, & Bakken IJ. (2020). Underlying conditions in adults with COVID-19. *Tidsskrift for den Norske Laegeforening*, 140(13).

Oakley LL, Awogbade M, Brien S, Briley A, Chorozoglou M, Drasar E, Johns J, Rhodes E, Robinson V, Seed P, Sharif J, Singh C, Telfer P,Thompson H,Watt-Coote I, Howard J, & Oteng-Ntim E. (2020). Serial prophylactic exchange blood transfusion in pregnant women with sickle cell disease (TAPS-2): study protocol for a randomised controlled feasibility trial. *Trials*, 21(1), 347.

Oerbeck B, **Furu K**, Zeiner P, Aase H, Reichborn-Kjennerud T, Pripp AH, & Overgaard KR. (2020). Child and Parental Characteristics of Medication Use for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Journal of child adolescent psychopharmacology*, 30(7): 456–464.

Opdahl S, Henningsen A-KA, Bergh C, Gissler M, **Romundstad LB**, Petzold M, Tiitinen A, Wennerholm U-B, & Pinborg AB. (2019). Data Resource Profile: Committee of Nordic Assisted Reproductive Technology and Safety (CoNARTaS) cohort. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 49(2), 365-366f.

Page CM, Djordjilović V, Nøst TH, Ghiasvand R, Sandanger TM, Frigessi A, Thoresen M, & Veierød MB. (2020). Lifetime Ultraviolet Radiation Exposure and DNA Methylation in Blood Leukocytes: The Norwegian Women and Cancer Study. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 4521.

Patel DM, Jones RR, Booth BJ, Olsson AC, Kromhout H, Straif K, Vermeulen R, Tikellis G, Paltiel O, Golding J, Northstone K, Stoltenberg C, **Håberg SE**, Schüz J, Friesen MC, Ponsonby A-L, Lemeshow S, Linet MS, **Magnus P**, Olsen J, Olsen SF, Dwyer T, Stayner LT, Ward MH, & Consortium obotlCCC. (2020). Parental occupational exposure to pesticides, animals and organic dust and risk of childhood leukemia and central nervous system tumors: Findings from the International Childhood Cancer Cohort Consortium (I4C). *International Journal of Cancer*, 146(4), 943-952.

Petersen SH, Bergh C, Gissler M, Åsvold BO, **Romundstad LB**, Tiitinen A, Spangmose AL, Pinborg A, Wennerholm U-B, Henningsen A-KA, & Opdahl S. (2020). Time trends in placenta-mediated pregnancy complications after assisted reproductive technology in the Nordic countries. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 223(2), 226.e221-226.e219.

Philips EM et al. including **Magnus P**. (2020). Changes in parental smoking during pregnancy and risks of adverse birth outcomes and childhood overweight in Europe and North America: An individual participant data meta-analysis of 229,000 singleton births. *PLoS Med*, 17(8), e1003182.

Rantala AK, **Magnus MC**, Karlstad Ø, Stigum H, **Håberg SE**, Nafstad P, Nystad W, & Jaakkola JJK. (2020). Is the association of early day care attendance with

34 Centre for Fertility and Health

childhood asthma explained by underlying susceptibility? *Epidemiology*.

Regan AK, Arnaout A, Marinovich L, Marston C, Patino I, Kaur R, Gebremedhin A, & **Pereira G**. (2020). Interpregnancy interval and risk of perinatal death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bjog*, 127(12), 1470-1479.

Reigstad MM, Storeng R, **Furu K**, Bakken IJ, Engeland A, & Larsen IK. (2020).Validation of Assisted Reproductive Technology in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway Versus the Norwegian Prescription Database. *Epidemiology*, 31(5).

Romanowska J, Haaland Ø A, Jugessur A, Gjerdevik M, Xu Z, Taylor J, Wilcox AJ, Jonassen I, Lie RT, & Gjessing HK. (2020). Gene-methylation interactions: discovering region-wise DNA methylation levels that modify SNP-associated disease risk. *Clin Epigenetics*, 12(1), 109.

Rosenstrom T, **Torvik FA**, Ystrom E, Aggen SH, Gillespie NA, Krueger RF, Czajkowski NO, Kendler KS, & Reichborn-Kjennerud T. (2020). Specific antisocial and borderline personality disorder criteria and general substance use: A twin study. *Personal Disordorders:Theory, Research and Treatment.*

Ruiz PLD, Bakken IJ, **Håberg SE**, Tapia G, Hauge SH, Birkeland KI, Gulseth HL, & Stene LC. (2020). Higher frequency of hospitalization but lower relative mortality for pandemic influenza in people with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 287(1), 78-86.

Saarela J, & **Skirbekk V**. (2020). Childlessness and union histories: evidence from Finnish population register data. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 52(1), 78-96.

Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Bakwa-Kanyinga F, Chaput JP, Hamilton HA, Elton-Marshall T, & **Colman I**. (2020). Nonmedical use of prescription opioids, psychological distress, and suicidality among adolescents. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.*

Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Chaput J-P, Goldfield GS, Janssen I, Wang J, Hamilton HA, & **Colman I**. (2020). 24-hour movement guidelines and suicidality among adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 274, 372-380.

Sampasa-Kanyinga H, **Colman I**, Goldfield GS, Janssen I, Wang J, Hamilton HA, & Chaput J-P. (2020). Associations between the Canadian 24 h movement guidelines and different types of bullying involvement among adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 108, 104638.

Sampasa-Kanyinga H, **Colman I**, Goldfield GS, Janssen I, Wang J, Podinic I, Tremblay

MS, Saunders TJ, Sampson M, & Chaput J-P. (2020). Combinations of physical activity, sedentary time, and sleep duration and their associations with depressive symptoms and other mental health problems in children and adolescents: a systematic review. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 17(1), 72.

Sampasa-Kanyinga H, **Colman I**, Goldfield GS, Janssen I, Wang J, Tremblay MS, Barnes JD, Walsh JJ, & Chaput JP. (2020). 24-Hour Movement Behaviors and Internalizing and Externalizing Behaviors Among Youth. *J Adolesc Health*.

Satterstrom FK et al. including, collaborators **Jugessur A**, **Magnus P**, **Susser E**. (2020). Large-Scale Exome Sequencing Study Implicates Both Developmental and Functional Changes in the Neurobiology of Autism. *Cell*, 180(3), 568-584.e523.

Schmid L, **Wörn J**, Hank K, Sawatzki B, & Walper S. (2020). Changes in employment and relationship satisfaction in times of the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from the German family Panel. *European Societies*, 1-16.

Seglem KB, Ørstavik R, **Torvik FA**, Røysamb E, & Vollrath M. (2020). Education differences in sickness absence and the role of health behaviors: a prospective twin study. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1689.

Sims S, Preen D, **Pereira G**, Fatovich D, Livingston M, & O'Donnell M. (2020). Alcohol-related harm in emergency departments: linking to subsequent hospitalizations to quantify under-reporting of presentations. *Addiction*.

Sironi M, Ploubidis GB, & **Grundy EM**. (2020). Fertility History and Biomarkers Using Prospective Data: Evidence From the 1958 National Child Development Study. *Demography*, 57, 529–558.

Skirbekk V, de Sherbinin A, Adamo SB, Navarro J, & Chai-Onn T. (2020). Religious Affiliation and Environmental Challenges in the 21st Century. *Journal of Religion and Demography*, 7(2), 238-271.

Snell KIE, Allotey J, Smuk M, Hooper R, Chan C, Ahmed A, Chappell LC, Von Dadelszen P, Green M, Kenny L, Khalil A, Khan KS, Mol BW, Myers J, Poston L, Thilaganathan B, Staff AC, Smith GCS, Ganzevoort W, Laivuori H, Odibo AO, Arenas Ramírez J, Kingdom J, Daskalakis G, Farrar D, Baschat AA, Seed PT, Prefumo F, da Silva Costa F, Groen H, Audibert F, Masse J, Skråstad RB, Salvesen K, Haavaldsen C, Nagata C, Rumbold AR, Heinonen S, Askie LM, Smits LJM, Vinter CA, **Magnus P**, Eero K, Villa PM, Jenum AK, Andersen LB, Norman JE, Ohkuchi A, Eskild A, Bhattacharya S, McAuliffe FM, Galindo A, Herraiz I, Carbillon L, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Yeo SA, Browne JL, Moons KGM, Riley RD, & Thangaratinam S. (2020). External validation of prognostic models predicting pre-eclampsia: individual participant data meta-analysis. *BMC medicine*, 18(1), 302.

Solberg BS, Hegvik TA, Halmoy A, **Skjaerven R**, Engeland A, Haavik J, & Klungsoyr K. (2020). Sex differences in parent-offspring recurrence of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*.

Sorbye LM, Cnattingius S, **Skjaerven R**, Klungsoyr K, Wikstrom AK, Kvalvik LG, & **Morken NH**. (2020). Interpregnancy weight change and recurrence of gestational diabetes mellitus: a populationbased cohort study. *Bjog*, 127(13), 1608-1616.

Spangmose AL, Ginström Ernstad E, Malchau S, Forman J, Tiitinen A, Gissler M, Opdahl S, **Romundstad LB**, Bergh C, Wennerholm UB, Henningsen AA, & Pinborg A. (2020). Obstetric and perinatal risks in 4601 singletons and 884 twins conceived after fresh blastocyst transfers: a Nordic study from the CoNARTaS group. *Human Reproduction*, 35(4), 805-815.

Speake HA, **Pereira G**, & Regan AK. (2020). Risk of adverse maternal and foetal outcomes associated with inactivated influenza vaccination in first trimester of pregnancy. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology*, 35(2), 196–205.

Steinthorsdottir V, et al. including **Magnus P**. (2020). Genetic predisposition to hypertension is associated with preeclampsia in European and Central Asian women. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 5976.

Sulo G, Igland J, Øverland S, Sulo E, **Kinge JM**, Roth GA, & Tell GS. (2020). Socioeconomic Gradients in Mortality Following HF Hospitalization in a Country With Universal Health Care Coverage. JACC Heart Fail, 8(11), 917-927.

Sun BZ, Moster D, Harmon QE, & **Wilcox AJ**. (2020). Association of Preeclampsia in Term Births With Neurodevelopmental Disorders in Offspring. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 77(8), 823-829.

Syed S, Kingsbury M, Bennett K, Manion I, & **Colman I**. (2020). Adolescents' knowledge of a peer's non-suicidal self-injury and own non-suicidal self-injury and suicidality. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 142(5), 366-373.

Thériault FL, Gardner W, Momoli F, Garber BG, Kingsbury M, Clayborne Z, Cousineau-Short DY, Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Landry H, & **Colman I**. (2020). Mental Health Service Use in Depressed Military Personnel:A Systematic Review. *Military Medicine*.

Torvik FA, Eilertsen EM, McAdams TA, Gustavson K, Zachrisson HD, Brandlistuen R, Gjerde LC, Havdahl A, Stoltenberg C, Ask H, & Ystrom E. (2020). Mechanisms linking parental educational attainment with child ADHD, depression, and academic problems: a study of extended families in The Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study. Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines, 61(9), 1009–1018.

Trias-Llimós S, Pennells L, **Tverdal A**, Kudryavtsev AV, Malyutina S, Hopstock LA, lakunchykova O, Nikitin Y, **Magnus P**, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, & Leon DA. (2020). Quantifying the contribution of established risk factors to cardiovascular mortality differences between Russia and Norway. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 20796.

Tverdal A, Selmer R, **Cohen JM**, & Thelle DS. (2020). Coffee consumption and mortality from cardiovascular diseases and total mortality: Does the brewing method matter? *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 2047487320914443.

Vali S, Mukhtar S, Nandi A, Wilson K, **Oakley L**, El-Toukhy T, & Oteng-Ntim E. (2020). Cumulative outcome of preimplantation genetic diagnosis for sickle cell disease: a 5-year review. *British Journal* of *Haematology*, 191(5), 875-879.

Vehmeijer FOL, Küpers LK, Sharp GC, Salas LA, Lent S, Jima DD, Tindula G, Reese S, Qi C, Gruzieva O, Page C, Rezwan Fl, Melton PE, Nohr E, Escaramís G, Rzehak P, Heiskala A, Gong T, Tuominen ST, Gao L, Ross JP, Starling AP, Holloway JW, Yousefi P, Aasvang GM, Beilin LJ, Bergström A, Binder E, Chatzi L, Corpeleijn E, Czamara D, Eskenazi B, Ewart S, Ferre N, Grote V, Gruszfeld D, Håberg SE, Hoyo C, Huen K, Karlsson R, Kull I, Langhendries JP, Lepeule J, Magnus MC, Maguire RL, Molloy PL, Monnereau C, Mori TA, Oken E, Räikkönen K, Rifas-Shiman S, Ruiz-Arenas C, Sebert S, Ullemar V, Verduci E, Vonk JM, Xu CJ, Yang IV, Zhang H, Zhang W, Karmaus W, Dabelea D, Muhlhausler BS, Breton CV, Lahti J, Almqvist C, Jarvelin MR, Koletzko B, Vrijheid M, Sørensen TIA, Huang RC, Arshad SH, Nystad W, Melén E, Koppelman GH, London SJ, Holland N, Bustamante M, Murphy SK, Hivert MF, Baccarelli A, Relton CL, Snieder H, Jaddoe VWV, & Felix JF. (2020). DNA methylation and body mass index from birth to adolescence: metaanalyses of epigenome-wide association studies. Genome Med, 12(1), 105.

PHD THESIS

Gjerdevik M. (2020). Family-based genetic association models. University of Bergen, *Bergen Open Research Archive - UiB*

BOOKS, DISCUSSION PAPERS & REPORTS

Bergsvik J, Cools S, & **Hart RK**. (2020). Explaining residential clustering of fertility. *Statistics Norway, Discussion Paper* (No 939).

Hart RK, Kravdal Ø. «Fallende fruktbarhet i Norge» [Fertility decline in Norway]. *Rapport 2020*. Oslo: Folkehelseinstituttet, 2020.

Orlov S. RE, Cantele M., Stonawski M., **Skirbekk V**. (2020). Modeling Social Status and Fertility Decisions Under Differential Mortality. In K. R. M. Haunschmied J.L., Semmler W., Veliov V.M. (Ed.), Dynamic Economic Problems with Regime Switches. Dynamic Modeling and Econometrics in Economics and Finance (Vol. 25): Springer, Cham.

LETTERS & CORRESPONDENCE

Fretheim A, **Flatø M**, Steens A, Flottorp SA, Rose CJ, Telle KE, **Kinge JM**, & Schwarze PE. (2020). COVID-19: we need randomised trials of school closures. J Epidemiol Community Health.

Leon DA, Shkolnikov VM, Smeeth L, Magnus P, Pechholdová M, & Jarvis CI. (2020). COVID-19: a need for real-time monitoring of weekly excess deaths. *The Lancet*, 395(10234), e81.

SEMINARS 2020

THE CENTRE HAS INITIATED SEVERAL SERIES OF SEMINARS TO FOSTER SCIENTIFIC EXCHANGE.

CeFH Lunch Seminars

Our lunch seminars are informal research seminars that are normally held every Friday. Both researchers at the Centre and researchers from other parts of the world present interesting topics in fertility and health. The presentations include new research ideas, projects, results and methods as well as possible collaborative projects. Although primarily aimed at researchers at the Centre, the seminars are also open to other researchers.

CeFH Genetic Fridays

Genetics Fridays are held every Friday. This is an informal venue for all employees at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health and collaborators who work in genetics, plan to implement genetics in their work, or merely have an interest in genetics. There is room for presentations and/or discussions, where participants can share their knowledge and experience, come up with ideas, and discuss projects and methods.

CeFH Biostatistical Seminars

The biostatistical seminars have a focus on methods and their mathematical backgrounds. Grant applications may also be presented. We invite a broad range of researchers from Norway and abroad to discuss various topics such as causal inference, Bayesian methods, variable selection, and more. Statisticians and data analysts from the Norwegian Institute of Public Health are invited to join these meetings, as well as people from outside the institute.

Lunch seminars, Genetic Fridays and Biostatistical seminars

Torkild Hovde Lyngstad. OPENFLUX -Societal op enness, normative flux and the social modification of heritability. *January* 10.

Christine Sommer. Genetics and epigenetics in the STORK study. January 10. Iñaki Permanyer. The subnational human and gender development indices. *January 15.*

Dan Belsky. Polygenic Score Analysis of Human Development. *January 16*.

Dana Kristjansson. Mitochondrial genomics. *January* 17.

Ian Colman. Suicide and suicide contagion: is prevention possible? *January* 24.

Espen Moen Eilertsen. Two studies of direct and indirect genetic effects in MoBa. *January 24.*

Jonas Kinge. Childhood mental disorders and parental income. January 31.

Tobias Uller. Evolutionary perspectives on the developmental origins of health and disease. *February* 7. **Vegard Skirbekk.** What is interdisciplinarity in research on fertility and health? *February 14.*

Fartein Torvik. Reproduction of socioeconomic differences and mental health across generations (REMENTA). March 6.

Simon Rayner. Data and information flow in the COVID-19 outbreak. March 20. Dana Kristjansson. Norwegian timeline and historical events relevant for mtDNA phylogeny. June 5.

Bushra Ishaq. Social determinants of health, birth rate and induced abortions

among Muslims in Norway. June 12.

Ellen Øen Carlsen. HbA1c in early second trimester and perinatal outcomes. June 19.

Hans Ivar Hanevik. The recent abrupt modernization of biotech-legislation in Norway. *August 28*.

Rolv Terje Lie. Familial Recurrence Risks and Genetic Contributions. August 28. Marianna Cortese. Term birth weight and neurodevelopmental disabilities. *September 4*.

Kristine L. Haftorn. Journal club - Single cell chromatin modification profiling reveals increased epigentic variations with aging. September 4.

Julia Romanowska. Gene-methylation interactions: Discovering region-wise DNA methylation levels that modify SNP-associated disease risk. September 11.

Vegard Skirbekk and Hans Peter Kohler. Interdisciplinary study on biological and social determinants of reproductive decisions and outcomes. *September 11*.

Jonathan Wörn. Work and Relationship Satisfaction in Times of the COVID-19 Pandemic - Evidence from Germany. September 18.

Miriam Gjerdevik. Meta-analysis of genetic association studies; opportunities and challenges. September 18.

Kari Furu. Trends and prevalence of gestational diabetes in Norway 2013 -2018. September 25.

Manuela Zucknick. Structured penalized regression for drug sensitivity prediction. September 29.

Per Magnus. Research on covid-19 - what is going on and what role for the Centre for Fertility and Health? *October 9.*

Christian M. Page. Journal club: Nature as a trialist? Deconstructing the analogy between Mendelian Randomization and randomized trials. *October 9*.

Lise Andrea Arge. Relationship between number of previous miscarriages and timeto-pregnancy in subsequent pregnancies in the Norwegian Mother, Father and Child Cohort Study. October 16.

Bjørn Olav Åsvold. An introduction to Mendelian randomization. *October 16*.

Ellen Øen Carlsen. Assessing work conditions for PhD students at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health during the Covid-19 pandemic. *October 23*.

Rosa Cheesman. Genetic nurture effects on mental health and education. *October 23*.

Tormod Rogne. The obesity paradox -Among patients with infectious diseases, is obesity really protective? *October 30*.

Håkon Gjessing. Heritability curves; a local measure of heritability. *October 30*.

Valeria Vitelli. Bayesian rank-based models for genomic data integration: some recent advances. *November 5*.

Gavin Pereira. Interpregnancy interval and autism spectrum disorder. *November 6*

Jonathan Wörn, Bjørn-Atle Reme and Vegard Skirbekk. Depressive symptoms following job loss and layoff during the COVID-pandemic. *November 13*.

Ole Bernt Lenning. A possible covariation between COVID19 lethality and Y Chromosome R1b in perspective of the epidemiological situation. *November 13*.

Øyvind Helgeland. MoBa genetics update. *November 20*.

Per Magnus, Ida Caspersen, Lill Trogstad and Siri Mjaaland.Results and plans for COVID-related research in cohorts. *November* 27.

Rolv Skjærven. HealthierWomen - an ERC Advanced Grant project affiliated with the Centre for Fertility and Health. *December 4.*

Christine Sommer and **Sindre Lee-Ødegård**. Introduction to EPIPREG and potential collaboration between MoBa and EPIPREG. *December 4*.

Siri Håberg and **Robert Lyle**. Altered epigenome in newborns conceived by assisted reproductive technologies. *December 18*.

Other CeFH events

CeFH seminar on research communication, Son. February 10-11.

Launch of fertility report, Litteraturhuset. February 24.

Digital workshop with participants from three large cohort studies: ALSPAC, HUNT, MoBa. September 21.

3rd Annual CEFH Symposium. September 24.

- Ole Røgeberg, the Frisch Center: Causal inference using observational data
- Jo Thori Lind, Department of Economics at the University of Oslo:The inequality of equal mating
- Miriam Evensen, the Norwegian Institute of Public Health: Mental health problems in adolescence, first births and union formation
- Matthijs Kalmijn, Netherland's Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute, member of the CeFH advisory board: The intergenerational transmission of health behaviors: Comparing stepparents and biological parents
- Jordana Bell, King's College London: Epigenetics, fertility, and health: Insights from twin studies
- Fartein Ask Torvik , CeFH: Educational burden of disease
- Maria Christine Magnus, CeFH: Understanding the causal nature of the relationship between infertility and cardiovascular disease (Presentation of a new research project)
- Yunsung Lee, CeFH: Epigenetic clock and pregnancy
- **Dana Kristjansson**, CeFH: Mitochondrial DNA and Norwegians

Seminar for PhD students at NIPH. October 21.

Digital Centre seminar on interdisciplinar research. December 1. 38 Centre for Fertility and Health

Visiting address: Marcus Thranes gate 2 0473 Oslo Norway

Postal address: Norwegian Institute of Public Health Centre for Fertility and Health P.O. box 222 Skøyen 0213 Oslo Norway

cefh@fhi.no www.cefh.no

